FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/29/2017 12:36 PM SUPREME COURT NO.

5389-9

NO. 74770-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Detention of Gregory Cooley,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GREGORY COOLEY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

The Honorable Michael E. Rickert, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373 STA

B\

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1a. When the State's proffered race-neutral explanations for exercising a peremptory challenge against the sole black juror on the venire are unsupported by the record or legally incorrect (asserting a discriminatory pattern is required), is the State's peremptory challenge merely pretextual, motivated by racial animus, and in violation of <u>Batson v. Kentucky</u>, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986)?
- 1b. Given the inadequacies of the <u>Batson</u> framework in addressing racial discrimination in jury selection, should the Washington courts adopt and should the Court of Appeals considered a more workable standard that sustains a <u>Batson</u> challenge whenever there is a reasonable probability that a juror's race was a factor in the prosecution's exercise of a peremptory challenge?
- 1c. The Court of Appeals refused to address Coley's proposal to alter the <u>Batson</u> framework out of deference to this court's ongoing rule-based

work. As an alternative, should this court stay consideration of this petition until its rule-based work on altering the <u>Batson</u> framework is complete?

- 2a. Did the trial court err in concluding that a defense expert's opinions must be limited to what he provided in a written report based on a discovery violation, thereby prohibiting the expert from testifying to his opinion that Coley did not have other specified paraphilic disorder with pedophilic, coercive, and sadistic traits as the State's expert had testified?
- 2b. If there was a discovery violation, did the trial court nonetheless err by failing to address whether a lesser sanction would suffice, the willfulness of the violation, and the extent of the prejudice as required by Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. Factual and procedural background

In 2002, Coley stipulated to commitment under chapter 71.09 RCW. CP 260-66. He agreed he was convicted of the sexually violent offense of child molestation in February 15, 1991, when Coley himself was 11 years old. CP 263. Coley also stipulated his conviction for unlawful imprisonment qualified as a sexually violent offense "since it was sexually motivated." CP 263. The State stipulated it would waive the RCW 71.09.090(2) show cause requirement on two occasions chosen by Coley. CP 261. The trial here was the first such occasion.

The State's expert (Dale Arnold) and Coley's expert (Richard Wollert) agreed Coley suffered from two personality disorders—antisocial personality disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. 3RP¹ 477, 479-80, 858-59. Arnold's principal diagnosis was other specified paraphilic disorder with pedophilic, coercive, and sadistic traits. 3RP 434-35, 441. As for these "traits" of other specified paraphilic disorder, Arnold opined Coley did not meet criteria for the standalone disorders. 3RP 434-35. Arnold believed Coley was "more likely than not to engage in acts of child molestation or rape if he's released to the community." 3RP 511.

The defense expert, Wollert, opined Coley did not suffer from any mental abnormality and was unlikely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined. 3RP 882-83; Ex. 62 at 78. He described Coley's mostly juvenile criminal behavior as "reckless behavior kids engage in." 3RP 838. Wollert also believed Coley was a juvenile-only sex offender and had a lower recidivism risk of seven to 12 percent. 3RP 879-80, 883-84.

Coley also presented the testimony of several witnesses both inside and outside the Special Commitment Center who stated Coley had matured over the past few years and had better control over behavior. 3RP 608, 610-12, 636, 651, 655-56, 663-64, 709-10, 712, 717-19, 721, 728, 7444, 777-78.

¹ Consistent with briefing below, Coley refers to the verbatim reports of proceedings as follows: 1RP—May 15, 2014; 2RP—January 5, 2016; 3RP—consecutively paginated proceedings of January 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 19, 2016.

2. Batson challenge

Coley is a black man. CP 163. The State peremptorily challenged the sole black venireperson on Coley's jury, Juror 5. 3RP 139-40. Defense counsel objected the next morning. 3RP 139-40.

In addition to arguing the challenge was timely, the State argued that Juror 5 "dominated a lot of parts of the conversation and the State . . . had concerns about his ability to deliberate with other jurors, how they would get along with him due to that demeanor." 3RP 142. The prosecutor also stated that because Juror 5 had used the term "brain chemistry" in relation to his view that racism in the justice system was a seemingly intractable issue, his "opinions were going to override his ability to listen to psychologists and take in that testimony." 3RP 142. The State also argued there was "not pattern of challenges." 3RP 142.

The trial court denied the <u>Batson</u> challenge based on a lack of discriminatory pattern and accepted the State's other explanations. 3RP 143-44. The court later entered findings unsupported by the record, including that Juror 5 was "one of two venireman who appeared to be African-American" but the "other venireman, who Respondent argues appeared to African-American, did not have a low enough number to be impaneled." CP 163. The findings also stated the strike was not based on race but "because the potential juror was very opinionated about several issues, including very strong

opinions about brain development and brain function." CP 163. The findings also stated Juror 5 was too talkative and dominating, which rendered him incapable of cooperating with other jurors. CP 163.

3. Exclusion of Wollert's opinion on other specified paraphilic disorder

In the middle of Wollert's testimony, the State asserted he was not permitted to give any opinion that rebutted the State's diagnosis of other specified paraphilic disorder with sadistic, pedophilic, and coercive traits. 3RP 850-51. The State couched its objection as a discovery violation, noting Wollert did not explicitly state in his report that he disagreed with the State's diagnosis. 3RP 851-53.

Defense counsel responded the State's arguments amounted to semantics given that Coley did not have paraphilia not otherwise specified, and that the only difference in diagnoses was a terminology change in the newer edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual. 3RP 853.

The court disallowed Wollert to provide any opinion that was not stated directly in his report. 3RP 854-55. The court proceeded to sustain the State's objections that Wollert was testifying "outside the scope" of his report. 3RP 856, 864-65. The trial court's basis for exclusion of this evidence was the discovery rules, yet the trial court engaged in no analysis as to whether a lesser sanction might suffice, whether the violation was willful, and whether

the State was prejudiced by Wollert's opinion that Coley did not suffer from other specified paraphilic disorder.

4. Jury finding and appeal

The jury found Coley continued to meet 71.09 criteria. CP 269.

Coley appealed. CP 151. Among other things, he argued that the record did not support the State's proffered race-neutral explanations or the trial court's findings (drafted by the State) and that the trial court erred either in excluding portions of Wollert's testimony based on a discovery violation that did not exist or in failing to engage in the appropriate <u>Burnet</u> analysis before excluding the testimony. The Court of Appeals rejected all Coley's claims, often failing to address his actual arguments.

D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. NONE OF THE STATE'S REASONS FOR STRIKING
JUROR 5 WAS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD AND
OTHERWISE DEMONSTRATE DISCRIMINATORY
INTENT

The race-neutral explanations given by the State to peremptorily challenge Juror 5 were not supported by the record, which gives rise to an inference of discriminatory intent. Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 485, 128 S. Ct. 1203, 170 L. Ed. 2d 175 (2008); Miller-El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 252, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 162 L. Ed. 2d 196 (2005); State v. Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d 34, 43, 309 P.3d 326 (2013) (lead opinion), abrogated in part on other grounds

by City of Seattle v. Erickson, 188 Wn.2d 721, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017). By refusing to meaningfully consider the record, the Court of Appeals endorsed the State's discriminatory intent.

a. <u>Juror 5, the only black man on an all-white venire, did</u> not "dominate" voir dire, nor was he incapable of "cooperatively deliberating with other jurors"

The State complained and the trial court and Court of Appeals agreed that the only black person aside from Coley in a room full of white people spoke too much, was too willing to express his opinions, and just wouldn't get along well enough to reach decisions with the other jurors. 3RP 143; CP 163 (finding of fact 6); Appendix at 8. This explanation is unsupported by the record. More importantly, the Court of Appeals' endorsement of this explanation tells prospective black jurors that they should not speak unless spoken to and, when speaking, ensure that nothing said could be perceived as the least bit controversial.² In other words, black jurors who do not act like mild-mannered white people are too uppity, are incapable of being good jurors, and the State therefore has a valid basis to strike them. Under all RAP

² It is both troubling and telling that the Court of Appeals refused to acknowledge the racial composition of the jury, leaving Coley's assignments of error to findings of fact 3 and 4 completely unaddressed. CP 163 (findings indicating Juror 5 was one of two African American venirepersons); 3RP 142 (State making unsupported assertion, "There are other minorities on -- actually seated on our panel at this time"); Br. of Appellant at 1, 28-30 (assigning error to and arguing the baseless State-drafted findings regarding the composition of the venire were additional evidence of discriminatory intent); Reply Br. at 13 ("The State's need to resort to factual misrepresentations to support its race-neutral explanations speaks volumes to its true, racist motivations, and, on appeal, the State makes no attempt to explain or argue otherwise.").

13.4(b) criteria, this court should review the Court of Appeals' choice "to stigmatize as well as to perpetuate historical patterns of discrimination." J.E.B. v. Alabama, 511 U.S. 127, 139 n.11, 114 S. Ct. 1419, 128 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1994).

Juror 5 did not dominate voir dire. The State and Court of Appeals fault Juror 5 for speaking too much, noting specifically he "spoke two times without being called on[.]" Appendix at 8, Br. of Resp't at 25-26. But Juror 5 spoke more than other jurors because he was asked more questions by counsel. See 3RP 24-25, 34-35, 78, 88-90. Although he did volunteer to talk about his view of jury service, instructions on mental abnormalities and personality disorders, and racism in the justice system, most of his discussion was driven by counsel. Out of the 115 pages of voir dire, Juror 5's words occupy not even five full pages. Compare 3RP 17-131 (all of voir dire) with 3RP 18-19, 25, 35, 78-80, 88-90 (pages on which Juror 5's words appear during only two out of six rounds of voir dire). And, Juror 5's lengthiest remarks pertained to whether a black man like Coley could be treated fairly in the court system—a topic that Juror 5, as one of two black people in the room, perhaps had pertinent feelings about—and he spoke only after other jurors had spoken on the topic first.³ 3RP 88-90.

³ The Court of Appeals noted, "the trial judge acknowledged, 'I had concerns myself after hearing some of his answers." Appendix at 8 (quoting 3RP 959). However, the Court of Appeals did not acknowledge that the trial court's concerns were based on its substantive

Aside from Juror 18 and Juror 29, all the other jurors ultimately seated in Coley's trial also volunteered to answer questions. See CP 286-87 (juror sheets indicating who was seated); 3RP 19, 28, 30, 52-54, 60, 64-65, 71, 74, 94-96, 107-08 (Jurors 6, 7, 11, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 21, 22, 25, 27, and 29 volunteering to answer questions during voir dire). "[I]f a prosecutor's proffered reason for striking a black panelist applies just as well to an otherwise-similar nonblack [panelist] who is permitted to serve, that is evidence tending to prove purposeful discrimination to be considered at Batson's third step." Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 241; see also Saintcalle, 178 Wn.2d at 43 (approving of comparative juror analysis); State v. Cook, 175 Wn. App. 36, 41, 312 P.3d 653 (2013) (same).

Though neither the Court of Appeals nor the State addressed it, Coley assigned error to finding of fact 6, which stated Juror 5 "was extremely talkative and dominated voir dire" and the State "had legitimate concerns about whether venireman #5 would be distracting to other jurors during the trial and deliberations and whether venireman #5 would be capable of cooperatively deliberating with other jurors." CP 163. This finding is based on hyperbole, not the record. The hyperbole the State felt the need to resort to betrays its racist motivation for the peremptory strike.

but mistaken disagreement with Juror 5's discussion of statistics that black people from Skagit County were in prison at much higher rates per capita. 3RP 89, 143. The Court of Appeals' reliance on this as part of its racial animus analysis drips with irony.

Because the record does not support the trial court's findings that Juror 5 was too domineering to serve on the jury and because the Court of Appeals contrary decision conflicts with constitutional precedent of the United States and Washington Supreme Courts and the Court of Appeals on the important issue of racial discrimination in jury selection, review is warranted under every RAP 13.4(b) criterion.

b. <u>Juror 5's mere utterance of the words "brain chemistry" does not supply a valid race-neutral explanation that he could not consider the opinions of psychological experts</u>

Juror 5 used the term "brain chemistry" when explaining why he thought racism persists in the justice system: "brain chemistry of homo sapiens is still in the Stone Age although we live in the modern world. The rate at which civilization has progressed is much faster than evolution. So the brain chemistry is still chromatic or Stone Age." 3RP 88. Juror 5 made this statement in response to and in agreement with Juror 15's statement that it appeared "natural" for some people to be racists. 3RP 88. Juror 5 did not use the term "brain chemistry" to refer to psychological assessments or to actual scientific evaluations of the human brain. In other words, he did not use the term "brain chemistry" literally; he used it as a synonym for the human mindset or outlook specifically in the context of addressing issues of race in society. Juror 5 was not discussing "how individuals' brains work when trying

to remain objective," as the Court of Appeals concluded. Appendix at 8. Nor do his specific remarks about the seeming intractability of racism in the justice system validate the pretextual concern that Juror 5 might "have a rigid mindset on other aspects of mental functioning." Appendix at 8. Juror 5's mere utterance of the words "brain chemistry" does not provide a plausible raceneutral explanation when considered in context.

This conclusion is buttressed by the hyperbolic finding of fact 5 drafted by the State:

Petitioner exercised a peremptory challenge against venireman #5 because the potential juror was very opinionated about several issues, including very strong opinions about brain development and brain function. Issues central to this case are mental illness and dangerousness, including serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior. Petitioner had concerns that venireman #5 would not be able to listen to and fairly evaluate opinions of mental health experts who were expected to provide opinion based on forensic psychological evaluations.

CP 163. The record does not support the description of Juror 5 being "very opinionated about several issues," let alone has having "very strong opinions about brain development and brain function." Juror 5 said nothing about brain development or function. And there was no basis to conclude from any of Juror 5's remarks that he could neither listen to nor evaluate expert psychological opinions. This proffered race-neutral explanation is not

supported by the record, meriting review under all RAP 13.4(b) factors, as discussed above.⁴

c. There need not be a pattern of racial discrimination to sustain a *Batson* challenge as the State argued and as the trial court concluded

The principal reason the trial court denied Coley's <u>Batson</u> challenge was that it agreed with the State that Coley failed to demonstrate a pattern of discrimination. 3RP 142-43. But the High Court in <u>Batson</u> explicitly held no showing of a pattern was necessary, noting such a "cripplingly burden of proof" made "prosecutors' peremptory challenges" "largely immune from constitutional scrutiny." 476 U.S. at 92-93; <u>see also City of Seattle v. Erickson</u>, 188 Wn.2d 721, 733, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017) (holding no showing of a pattern is necessary to sustain a <u>Batson</u> challenge); <u>State v. Hicks</u>, 163 Wn.2d 477, 491, 181 P.3d 831 (2008) (same).

The Court of Appeals pretended that the trial court's discussion of a lack of discriminatory pattern pertained to the first step of the <u>Batson</u> analysis. Appendix at 6. The record is clear, however, that the trial court relied primarily on the absence of a discriminatory pattern not in addressing a prima facie showing under <u>Batson</u>'s first step but in denying the <u>Batson</u> challenge altogether, step three. Indeed, the trial court had already heard the State's

⁴ Despite Coley's assignment of error to and argument about this written finding, the Court of Appeals decision never mentions it. <u>See</u> Br. of Appellant at 1, 26.

proffered race-neutral explanations when it relied primarily on the absence of a discriminatory pattern to deny the <u>Batson</u> challenge. 3RP 141-44. The trial court was not ruling on whether the State had made a prima facie showing. The Court of Appeals' fiction also necessitates review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

d. When an alternative to *Batson* is fully briefed by the parties, *Erickson* compels consideration of the alternative

The Court of Appeals sidestepped Coley's thoroughly briefed proposal to alter the <u>Batson</u> framework, which asks that challenges be sustained under article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution when it is reasonably probable that race was a factor in the peremptory strike. Appendix at 9-10; Br. of Appellant at 36-48; Reply Br. at 16-18; Suppl. Br. of Appellant at 5-6. The Court of Appeals based its decision on <u>Erickson</u>, noting that, there, this court "did not adopt a change to the current standard of purposeful discrimination." Appendix at 10. But this court wasn't asked to adopt a new purposeful discrimination standard because the trial court in <u>Erickson</u> ruled that Erickson had not made a prima facie showing under <u>Batson</u>'s first step, "terminated the analysis and allowed the trial to move forward." <u>Erickson</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 725. Unsurprisingly, this court didn't change a standard no one asked it to change.

Coley explicitly asked the Court of Appeals to change <u>Batson</u>'s third step based on the state constitution. The State responded. Br. of Resp't at 34-40; Suppl. Br. of Resp't at 9-10. Because Coley "explicitly advocates for a change to the <u>Batson</u> test" and "[b]oth parties have briefed the issue and placed it squarely before [the court]," the Court of Appeals was compelled to address the issue. <u>Erickson</u>, 188 Wn.2d at 734; <u>see also id.</u> at 738 (Stephens, J., concurring) (despite alteration to <u>Batson</u>'s first step, "[w]e are unlikely to see different outcomes unless courts are willing to more critically evaluate proffered race-neutral justifications in future cases"); <u>Saintcalle</u>, 178 Wn.2d at 51-55 (discussing need to alternative approaches to the <u>Batson</u> framework given its failure to address racial discrimination in jury selection and describing the "main problem" with framework is third step).

The Court of Appeals refusal to consider an alteration to the <u>Batson</u> framework conflicts with the constitutional decisions of this court on the important issue of racial discrimination in jury selection, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

As an alternative to reviewing his motion for reconsideration, Coley moved for a stay in the Court of Appeals, given the Court of Appeals believed it should not consider any alteration to the <u>Batson</u> framework because "our Supreme Court is the architect of efforts to address the inadequacies of <u>Batson</u>. Out of deference, we decline to adopt a new standard and potentially run afoul

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