FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/2/2018 9:38 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95389-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Gregory Eugene Coley:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

GREGORY EUGENE COLEY,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KRISTIE BARHAM
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #32764 / OID #91094
Office of the Attorney General
Criminal Justice Division
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 389-2004

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

⁵ Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

935 P.2d 1353 (1997). The trial court did not abuse its discretion by narrowly limiting the scope of Dr. Wollert's testimony to opinions expressed in his report and disclosed during discovery. There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. The Trial Court Properly Limited Dr. Wollert's Testimony About Pedophilia

At trial, Dr. Wollert testified that Coley does not meet the criteria to be diagnosed with Pedophilia. RP at 847. Dr. Wollert also testified about why one of Coley's offenses does not meet the criteria for Pedophilia. RP at 846-47. After Coley asked Dr. Wollert if he agreed with Dr. Arnold's opinion that another incident indicated evidence of Pedophilia, the State objected. RP at 847-48. A colloquy ensued where the State objected to Dr. Wollert testifying to new opinions not disclosed in his report or during discovery. RP at 850-53. Less than two weeks before trial, the State deposed Dr. Wollert and asked him whether he believed he needed to write an updated evaluation after reviewing Dr. Arnold's report, which included opinions about pedophilic traits. RP at 851. Dr. Wollert said no. RP at 851. The State then asked Dr. Wollert if he was going to testify to any additional opinions not contained in his report, and Dr. Wollert again said no. RP at 851-53. Dr. Wollert's report does not address Dr. Arnold's diagnosis

⁶ Dr. Wollert wrote his report before Dr. Arnold's November 2, 2015 report. RP at 850-51. The State deposed Dr. Wollert on December 30, 2015, and trial commenced on January 11, 2016. RP at 2, 851.

of Other Specific Paraphilic Disorder with coercive, sadistic, and pedophilic traits. See RP at 434-35, 441, 588, 851. Rather, Dr. Wollert's report only addresses why Coley does not meet criteria for a rape paraphilia known as "Paraphilia Not Otherwise Specified (NOS) Nonconsent," which is alternatively referred to as "Paraphilic Coercive Disorder." See RP at 850-51. Dr. Arnold did not diagnose either of these disorders. Id.

Coley's argument that "there is no substantive difference" between "paraphilia NOS" and "other specified paraphilic disorder" mischaracterizes the diagnosis rendered and the very limited testimony the State sought to exclude. See Petition at 17-18. Dr. Arnold's diagnosis was not a generic paraphilia diagnosis such as "paraphilia NOS" or "other specified paraphilic disorder," but rather a specific diagnosis involving coercive, sadistic, and pedophilic traits. RP at 434-35, 441, 588, 851. The State's objection was limited to Dr. Wollert's testimony about pedophilic traits because there was "nothing in his report" to understand the basis of his opinion and it was being disclosed for the first time during trial. RP at 847-53. The State did not object to Dr. Wollert's testimony about coercive and sadistic traits because he discussed those traits in his report. RP at 829-35, 852, 856, 862-67, 884. However, Dr. Wollert's failure to disclose any opinions about pedophilic traits prevented the State from effective trial preparation:

And I asked him very specifically do you anticipate testifying to other opinions, and if he had said yes, I would have said what are they. He could have told me all of this, I could have asked him questions about it. I could have done much more research, if necessary done an additional deposition. But when he says no, that's it for me. That means I'm going to testify to my report.

RP at 853.7

Coley's reliance on *In re Meirhofer*, 182 Wn.2d 632, 343 P.3d 731 (2015) and *State v. Klein*, 156 Wn.2d 102, 124 P.3d 644 (2005) is misplaced. *See* Petition at 18-19. *Klein* held that an insanity acquittee is not required to suffer from the same mental disorder throughout commitment. *Klein*, 156 Wn.2d at 119-21. Relying on *Klein*, *Meirhofer* held that a change in diagnosis during commitment is insufficient to warrant a new trial. *Meirhofer*, 182 Wn.2d at 644. Contrary to *Klein* and *Meirhofer*, Coley's case does not involve a change in diagnosis or diagnostic terminology. Rather, the issue is whether the trial court properly limited the scope of Dr. Wollert's testimony about Pedophilia after Dr. Wollert disclosed that he would not be offering any opinions about such a diagnosis. *See* RP at 851-53. The purpose of discovery is to allow production of all relevant facts and thereby narrow the issues at trial. *Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington*, 176 Wn.2d 686, 698, 295 P.3d 239 (2013).

⁷ Coley also did not respond to interrogatories requesting information about his expert's opinions. RP at 851.

The trial court explained why Dr. Wollert should be limited to opinions disclosed during discovery, comparing it to a report from a laboratory:

You are limited to what's in the report. They can't put half of the stuff in the report and come into court and talk about what's in the report and a bunch of stuff that isn't in the report.

RP at 854. While Coley is entitled to present a defense, he is not entitled to do so by concealing information when explicitly asked by the State in a deposition and then seeking to ambush the State at trial.

Coley also argues that ER 703 permits Dr. Wollert to "express any opinion he wanted about what the State's expert said at trial." Petition at 16-17. Coley's argument lacks merit. First, Coley never raised this issue to the trial court and never asserted that Dr. Wollert intended to offer an opinion based on Dr. Arnold's trial testimony. *See* RP at 847-56. On the contrary, Coley claimed that the testimony he sought to elicit from Dr. Wollert was contained in his report. *See* RP at 849-50. Failure to raise an issue before the trial court generally precludes the party from raising it on appeal. *Wilcox v. Basehore*, 187 Wn.2d 772, 788, 389 P.3d 531 (2017); RAP 2.5. Second, Dr. Arnold's diagnostic opinion was known to Dr. Wollert prior to trial and prior to being deposed by the State. RP at 850-53. It would be improper to allow Dr. Wollert to subvert the discovery process by misleading the State and concealing his opinions in an attempt to admit testimony under the guise of ER 703. Coley has not shown that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with any appellate decision.

Coley also argues that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals "seemingly requires experts to affirmatively state their reasons for *not* reaching certain opinions" and that it is "impossible to state every basis for *not* reaching a certain opinion." Petition at 19-20 (emphasis in original). First, Coley fails to cite to any part of the court's decision that suggests such an analysis. Second, Coley's argument ignores the context in which Dr. Wollert stated that he would not testify to anything outside of his report. After reviewing Dr. Arnold's report, which included a diagnosis involving pedophilic traits, Dr. Wollert testified under oath that he would not be testifying to any additional opinions. *See* RP at 851-53. The State was entitled to rely on this response. Coley has not shown how the Court of Appeals decision "requires the impossible from expert witnesses" and review should be denied.

2. The Testimony Coley Sought to Elicit Was Not Excluded and Coley Failed to Make an Offer of Proof of Additional Testimony He Wanted to Elicit From Dr. Wollert

Coley argues that the trial court erred in what he refers to as the "wholesale exclusion" of Dr. Wollert's "responsive testimony." Petition at 20-23. First, the testimony Coley sought to elicit was not excluded and was in the record for the jury's consideration. RP at 862-65. Second, Coley failed to make an offer of proof regarding any additional testimony he wanted to elicit.

The testimony that is the basis of Coley's claim of error was not excluded and was in the record for the jury to consider. Coley ignores the fact that the State objected *after* Dr. Wollert answered the questions and did not move to strike the testimony; thus, the testimony was in the record for the jury's consideration. *See* RP at 864-65.8 "When an objection is sustained with no further motion to strike the testimony and no further instruction for the jury to disregard the testimony, the testimony remains in the record for the jury's consideration" and may be referenced during closing argument. *State v. Stackhouse*, 90 Wn. App. 344, 361, 957 P.2d 218 (1998) (citing *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 659, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)); *see also State v. Jones*, 70 Wn.2d 591, 597, 424 P.2d 665 (1967) ("objection to a question after it has been answered comes too late"). Thus, Dr. Wollert's testimony was in the record for the jury to consider. Coley's entire argument rests on the false premise that the testimony was excluded and not before the jury.

Furthermore, Coley failed to make an offer of proof regarding any additional testimony he wanted to elicit, and the nature of such testimony is

⁸ Following are excerpts from the trial testimony: Question: "Do you find any evidence for anything less than sadism?" Answer: "What do you mean by less?" Question: "I don't know. Is there anything less?" Answer: "There is nothing less." After the answer, the court sustained the State's objection. RP at 864-65. Question: "You indicated that there isn't a box for other specified paraphilic disorder. Do you know why?" Answer: "No, there's a box, but there is no text." After the answer, the court sustained the State's objection. RP at 864. Dr. Wollert had previously testified to this same information. RP at 863. The State did not ask for a motion to strike the answers or request that the court instruct the jury to disregard the answers. RP at 864-65.

not apparent from the context of the record. Although Coley claims for the first time on appeal that the excluded evidence was "essential" to his defense, he never made this claim to the trial court and never made an offer of proof to inform the court of the specific nature of any additional testimony he wanted to elicit. See RP at 848-55, 862-65. Coley only cites to testimony from Dr. Wollert that occurred after the trial court had already heard argument and ruled on the State's objection. See Petition at 21-22 (citing RP at 862-65); see also RP at 847-55. During this testimony, Coley failed to make any record that he wanted Dr. Wollert to testify to additional opinions. RP at 862-65. In fact, Coley failed to offer any argument about the State's objection. See RP at 864. Contrary to Coley's claim, it is not clear from the questioning what additional testimony Coley wanted to elicit that was so essential to his defense. See id. at 862-65.

The burden is on the proponent of the evidence to make an adequate offer of proof:

[I]t is the duty of a party to make clear to the trial court what it is that he offers in proof, and the reason why he deems the offer admissible over the objections of his opponent, so that the court may make an informed ruling. If the party fails to so aid the trial court, then the appellate court will not make assumptions in favor of the rejected offer.

Mad River Orchard, Inc. v. Krack Corp., 89 Wn.2d 535, 537, 573 P.2d 796 (1978). An offer of proof must be "sufficient to advise the appellate court

whether the party was prejudiced by the exclusion of the evidence." *Coley*, 2017 WL 4640320, at *6 (quoting *State v. Vargas*, 25 Wn. App. 809, 817, 610 P.2d 1 (1980)); *Sutton v. Mathews*, 41 Wn.2d 64, 67-68, 247 P.2d 556 (1952) (appellate court will not assume what a witness' answer would have been or reverse a case on the mere chance that the answer would have been favorable to appellant).

The Court of Appeals noted that "Coley made no offer of proof and it is not clear from the colloquy or context what specific testimony was being proffered." *Coley*, 2017 WL 4640320, at *7. As the Court of Appeals properly found, "Coley asks this court to speculate whether the limitations had any meaningful impact on the outcome of the trial[,]" which would improperly reward a party "who loses a motion to exclude evidence, does not mention *Burnet*, and does not make an offer of proof." *See id.* at *8. The Court properly concluded that Coley has not shown a basis for relief.

3. The Trial Court Was Not Required to Engage in a *Burnet*Analysis Before Minimally Limiting the Scope of Dr. Wollert's Testimony

Coley argues that the trial court erred in failing to conduct a *Burnet* analysis before limiting Dr. Wollert's testimony. Petition at 20-21. *Burnet* does not apply because there was no discovery order involved and the trial court's ruling was not based on a discovery violation. Under *Burnet*, before imposing one of the harsher sanctions allowed under CR 37 for the violation of a

discovery order, the trial court must consider whether the violation was willful, whether it substantially prejudiced the party's ability to prepare for trial, and whether a lesser sanction would suffice. *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 494. *Burnet* only applies when a court imposes one of the harsher CR 37 discovery sanctions for a party's failure to obey a discovery order. *Id.*; *see* CR 37(b)(2). Here, the trial court's ruling did not involve the violation of a discovery order. *See* RP at 847-55. Thus, *Burnet* does not apply.

Even if the trial court was required to engage in a *Burnet* analysis, and even if this Court considers this claim despite Coley's failure to raise the issue at the trial court or make an offer of proof, any error was harmless because Dr. Wollert testified in detail about all components of the diagnosis assigned by the State's expert. A trial court's failure to engage in a *Burnet* analysis is subject to harmless error. *Jones v. City of Seattle*, 179 Wn.2d 322, 356-60, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). Under a harmless error standard, an evidentiary error is grounds for reversal only if it results in prejudice that materially affects the outcome of the trial. *In re Det. of West*, 171 Wn.2d 383, 410-11, 256 P.3d 302 (2011).

Despite the trial court's minimal limitation of Dr. Wollert's testimony about Pedophilia, Dr. Wollert testified, without objection, that he did not diagnose Coley with Pedophilia and explained why one of Coley's crimes does not support pedophilic behavior. *See* RP at 846-47. Dr. Wollert

testified extensively regarding what diagnoses did (or did not) apply to Coley. As the Court of Appeals explained:

Dr. Wollert later testified about why he did not diagnose Coley with paraphilia or paraphilia not otherwise specified nonconsent. He also explained why he rejected other potential diagnoses, including paraphilic coercive disorder and sexual sadism. And he testified, without objection, that he did not find pedophilia as a diagnosis for Coley.

Coley, 2017 WL 4640320, at *6. The record supports the trial court's findings. Dr. Wollert repeatedly testified that Coley does not suffer from any form of paraphilia. RP at 835-47. He testified that Coley does not suffer from sexual sadism and explained in detail why Coley's crimes are not sadistic. RP at 829-35, 856, 862-64, 884. He testified that Coley does not suffer from Paraphilia NOS Nonconsent or Paraphilic Coercive Disorder. RP at 865-67. When asked if he diagnosed Coley with anything, Dr. Wollert testified that he diagnosed Coley with Antisocial Personality Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. RP at 858. Dr. Wollert testified that Coley does not suffer from a mental abnormality. RP at 882, 947. Rather, he opined that as a juvenile-only sex offender, Coley's sexual acting out is merely evidence of "immature" and "clown-like" behavior and indicative of Coley just "being a goofball." RP at 834-46, 883.9

⁹ Dr. Wollert testified, "I mean, remember, this is a guy who was called King Ding-a-ling." RP at 840.

Thus, Dr. Wollert testified in detail about all components of the diagnosis assigned by the State's expert.

Furthermore, Coley was able to argue his theory of the case in closing. Coley argued that the evidence does not support the diagnosis assigned by the State and that he does not suffer from pedophilia, sexual sadism, a coercive disorder, a mental abnormality, or any paraphilia. RP at 996-1002. Thus, Coley's claims that he "was not permitted to respond to the State's principal diagnosis" and that the opinion of the State's expert "was not subjected to a meaningful adversarial testing" is not supported by the record. *See* Petition at 24; *see* RP at 985-1008. The trial court's minimal limitation of Dr. Wollert's testimony did not affect Coley's ability to present a vigorous defense. Coley fails to show a basis for review.

V. CONCLUSION

Coley has failed to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b). For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny review.